S235735

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

RAND RESOURCES, LLC, et al

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

LEONARD BLOOM, et al

Defendants and Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL - 8 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

On Appeal From the California Court of Appeal for the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. B264493, Division 1

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP Sunny K. Soltani, State Bar No. 209774 *Anthony R. Taylor, State Bar No. 208712 Christina M. Burrows, State Bar No. 293933 18881 Von Karmon Avenue, Suite 1700 Irvine, California 92612 Telephone: (949) 223-1170

Facsimile: (949) 223-1170

Attorneys for Defendants and Respondents, CITY OF CARSON and JAMES DEAR

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review, by this Court, of the published opinion of the Second Appellate District below, is required because:

- Agreement (an "EAA") to negotiate the designation and development of a National Football League ("NFL") stadium are a "public issue" or "an issue of public interest" subject to California's Anti-SLAPP statute, Code of Civil Procedure § 425.16 (e)(1).1
- (2) Causes of action alleging statements made by public officials in connection with the EAA to allegedly negotiate the construction of an NFL stadium are "protected speech" within the meaning of the Anti-SLAPP statute.

In the context of this litigation, the EAA at issue here is the functional equivalent of the Exclusive Negotiating Agreement ("ENA") considered by the Fourth Appellate District in *Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc.* v. S.D. Unified Port Dist. (2003) 106 Cal. App. 4th 1219. Since, by the time of the EAA was executed and discussions surrounding the same occurred, all redevelopment agencies in the State of California had been abolished by statute. All the City of Carson could enter into with Richard Rand was an agreement to make him the City's exclusive agent for certain narrowly defined purposes of a possible NFL stadium.

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review by this Court is required to "secure uniformity of decision" within the appellate districts of California, and to settle an important issue of law with respect to applicability of the anti-SLAPP statute. (Rules of Court, Rule 8.500, sub. (b)(1).)

The published opinion of the Second Appellate District in this case is *directly at odds* with the majority view of the Fourth Appellate District as articulated in *Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port Dist.* (2003) 106 Cal. App. 4th 1219. In *Tuchscher*, the court held that statements and writings of public officials made in connection with an ENA regarding a large development of bayfront property were protected by California's anti-SLAPP statute because the development of bayfront property was an "issue of public interest." (*Id.* at 1233.)

With respect to the pending petition for review, the Second Appellate District found that an EAA regarding the development of an NFL stadium was *not* an issue of public interest. (Slip Op., p. 14-15.) These conflicting public opinions cannot be reconciled and must be reviewed by this Court.

The opinion of Second Appellate District *utterly fails* to meaningful distinguish the facts of the pending petition from the facts in *Tuchscher*. Moreover, and as a further conflict in legal positions between sister appellate districts, the Second Appellate District erroneously found that

protected speech in connection with an issue of public interest. (Slip Op., p. 6-7.)

Review by this Court is, therefore, necessary to resolve this conflict in legal positions and analysis between the published opinion in this case and in the *Tuchscher* case so that uniformity of decision can be achieved. In addition, review by this Court is necessary to settle important issues of law regarding the scope of speech protected by the anti-SLAPP statute and the application of the anti-SLAPP statute to agreements to prepare for and develop projects of widespread public interest. Therefore, the City of Carson and James Dear respectfully request that this Court grant their joint Petition for Review.

III. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF CASE

This Petition for Review arises from an erroneous decision of the Second Appellate District reversing the granting of the anti-SLAPP motion brought by Petitioners, City of Carson ("City") and James Dear ("Dear", collectively with City, "Petitioners"), concerning the First Amended Complaint ("FAC") filed by Respondents, Rand Resources, LLC and Carson El Camino, LLC's (collectively, "Rand Resources").

A. Exclusive Agency Agreement

Richard Rand, owner of Rand Resources, LLC and Carson El Camino, LLC, "is a real estate developer with a track record of successfully developing properties all over the globe." (AA:I:2:24, 28)². In 2008, Rand Resources and the City's now dissolved-redevelopment agency entered into an alleged exclusive negotiating agreement, whereby Rand Resources was provided with the exclusive right to negotiate a \$100 million dollar mixed-use retail project on 91 acres of land in the City of Carson. (AA:I:2:28-29).

Multiple extensions were granted by the redevelopment agency, but the redevelopment agency was dissolved by an act of the California Legislature. (AA:I:2:29). Due to such dissolution, the City and Rand Resources allegedly entered into an Exclusive Agency Agreement ("EAA"). (AA:I:2:29, 43-48).³

Under the EAA, Rand Resources "would become the exclusive agent of the City for the purpose of 'coordinating and negotiating with the NFL for the designation and development of an NFL football stadium in the City'." (AA:I:2:29-30). This football stadium would involve a "new, state-of-the-art sports and entertainment complex within the City" where "one or

² Citations are to Appellants' Appendix unless otherwise noted. Citations to the Appellants' Appendix are cited as AA:Volume:Tab:Page.

Petitioners vigorously dispute these factual allegations and note that the lower court's recitation of "facts" it its opinion were based upon its obligation to accept as true, for purposes in ruling on the special motion to strike, Rand's allegations in his FAC. To be clear, those allegations are just that — none of the "facts" have been adjudicated as true or correct. In fact, they are neither true nor correct.

more National Football League ("NFL") franchises" would "play its home games." (AA:I:2:24). The football stadium would be located on a 91 acre parcel that was partially owned by Rand Resources. (AA:I:2:44). Rand Resources alleges that El Camino "is the assignee of Rand Resources with respect to its rights under the EAA." (AA:I:2:25).

B. Allegations Of Fraud Based On Protected Speech And Petitioning Activities.

Rand Resources filed the FAC, the first pleading naming the City or Dear as defendants. (AA:II:6:417). Rand Resources added the second, third, and fourth causes of action, which are based on alleged fraud by the City and Dear (only as to the fourth cause of action) in connection with the City and Dear's communications relating to whether the EAA should be extended. (AA:I:2:33). Rand Resources also named the City in the first cause of action for breach of contract, which is not at issue in this petition.⁴

Rand Resources alleges that Dear, Carson's then mayor, and other unidentified "City officials" held "clandestine meetings," "talk[-ed] by the phone or through text messages," and sent "confidential emails." (AA:I:2:31, 35-36, 37). The purpose of these communications were "to cause[] the City to breach its prior representations and agreement to extend the EAA." (AA:I:2:33). Even though Rand Resources asserts that Dear and the City should have disclosed such communications to Rand

⁴ Petitioners' Special Anti-SLAPP Motion to Strike did not include the breach of contract cause of action, which is pending before the lower court.

Resources (AA:I:2:35-36), Rand Resources nowhere identifies what "duty" Dear or the City had to Rand Resources, what statute this duty is based on, or even allege that either had such a duty or plead facts to support that such a duty existed.

C. Petitioners' Special Anti-SLAPP Motion to Strike.

On April 8, 2015, Petitioners and Bloom Petitioners Leonard Bloom and U.S. Capital, LLC ("Bloom Petitioners") filed separate special motions to strike under California's anti-SLAPP statute, which were set for hearing on May 7, 2015. Petitioners' special motion to strike included all causes of action in the FAC naming the City or Dear except for the alleged breach of contract claim against the City.

On May 7, 2015, the lower court, after hearing oral argument from all parties, granted all of these special motions to strike in their entirety. The lower court correctly found that "an action for breach of an exclusive commercial development contract ["EDC"] with a public entity (containing causes of action for inducing breach of contract, intentional and negligent interference and Business and Professions Code section 17200) is subject to [the] Anti-SLAPP [statute] on the basis of rights of petition and free speech in connection with a public issue." (AA:IV:21:1095; see also *Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port District* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1219.)

The lower court went onto explain that, under *Tuchscher*, communications involving the proposed development of such commercial property fall into the 'matter of public interest' portion of the [Anti-SLAPP] statute and, as such, they need not be made in connection with an issue under consideration or review by a legislative, executive, or judicial body." (AA:IV:21:1095-1096).

Having established that California's anti-SLAPP statute applies, the lower court next examined Rand Resources' claims of liability against Petitioners. The lower court found that, pursuant to Government Code § 818.8, the City has absolute immunity from any cause of action based on fraud. (AA:IV:21:1096). Further, the lower court found that, pursuant to Civil Code § 47, subdivision (b), the statements in this case were made in connection with a legislative proceeding because they were used in the City's decision to decline to extend the EAA. As such, all such statements were protected by Civil Code § 47, subdivision (b). (*Id.*)

The lower court also found that Dear was immune under Civil Code §§ 820.2 and 47, subdivision (a), which affords immunity for a public official's discharge of an official duty, including discretionary actions of such public official. The lower court dismissed Rand Resources' arguments that there is no showing that Dear was discharging a discretionary duty, finding that evidence was presented, including in Rand Resources' own allegations, that "necessarily lead to a determination that

Dear was discharging a discretionary duty: he was making the decision to extend (or not extend) the Exclusivity Agreement." (AA:IV:21:1098). Finally, the lower court found that under Government Code § 815.2, because Dear is immune, the City is similarly immune. (AA:IV:21:1098).

D. Court of Appeal Opinion

Rand Resources appealed to the Court of Appeals for the Second Appellate District. In a published decision, the Second Appellate District reversed on the grounds that "none of the challenged causes of action fall within the scope of the statute" without reaching the question of whether there was probability of prevailing on the merits on the part of Rand Resources. The Second Appellate District attempted to distinguished the allegations of the FAC from the holding of the *Tuchscher* Court, finding the EAA was *not* an issue of public interest.

In doing so, the Second Appellate District offered utterly no meaningful rationale or reason that the EAA alleged in Rand Resources' FAC differs from EDC in *Tuchscher* for purposes of the applicability of California anti-SLAPP statute. That failure now creates a conflict of opinion between two of the sister appellate districts in this State.

E. No Petition For Rehearing Before The Court Of Appeal

The Second Appellate District's decision became final on June 30, 2016. Petitioners did not file a petition for rehearing before the Second

Appellate District and a petition for rehearing is not required since the errors by the Court of Appeal are errors of law.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. Review Should Be Granted To Secure Uniformity Of Decision And To Settle An Important Issue Of Law With Respect To The Application Of The Anti-SLAPP Statute To Agreements to Prepare For and Develop Impactful Projects As Issues Of Public Interest
 - 1. The Public Interest In The Exclusive Agency Agreement

The real estate development alleged in the FAC meets the "broad" standard that it is a public issue or issue of public interest. The anti-SLAPP statute encompasses "any other conduct ... in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." (Code Civ. Proc., § 425, subd. (e)(4).) "The definition of 'public interest' within the meaning of the Anti-SLAPP statute has been broadly construed to include ... private conduct that impacts a broad segment of society and/or that affects a community in a manner similar to that of a governmental agency." (Damon v. Ocean Hills Journalism Club (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 468, 479.)

Developmental projects such as a discount mall "with the potential environmental effects such as increased traffic and impact[s] on natural drainage [are] clearly a matter of public interest." (*Ludwig v. Superior Court* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 8, 15; see also *Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port Dist., supra*, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1234 ["[C]ommercial

and residential development of a substantial parcel of bayfront property, with its potential environmental impacts, is plainly a matter of public interest."].)

Here, the FAC clearly acknowledges the scale and impact of the contemplated developmental project. The EAA allegedly assigned exclusive agency to Respondent Rand Resources "for the purpose of 'coordinating and negotiating with the NFL for the designation and development of an NFL football stadium in the City." (AA:I:2:29-30). This football stadium would involve a "new, state-of-the-art sports and entertainment complex within the City" where "one or more National Football League ("NFL") franchises" would "play its home games." (AA:I:2:24).

The impact of such a billion dollar plus project is one of great national interest, let alone one of public interest for a city the size of Carson with a population under 100,000, and would be unlike anything ever completed in the City. (AA:I:5:79). Indeed, such a project would not only significantly impact the economics, infrastructure, and culture of the City, but because most of the property once operated as a landfill, the potential environmental undertaking would be daunting. (AA:I:5:79-80). These impacts dwarf those of the discount mall discussed in *Ludwig*.

The Second Appellate District's assertion that the communications alleged in the FAC "did not concern bringing an NFL team to Carson" (Slip

Op., p. 14) is contradicted by the FAC. The FAC explicitly states that "[u]nder the EAA . . . [Rand Resources] would become the exclusive agent of the City for the purpose of 'coordinating and negotiating with the NFL" (AA:I:2:29-30). Moreover, the City's alleged fraud related to undermining the EAA to explore whether the Bloom Petitioners could take over the exclusivity arrangement and negotiate with the NFL.

The FAC alleges "City officials, including Mayor James Dear, began secretly meeting with Leonard Bloom . . . regarding bringing the NFL to Carson." (AA:I:2:24-25 (emphasis added)). How the City could allegedly explore other agency options without actually bringing up the NFL is baffling. An EAA to develop a NFL stadium is a matter of public interest, and as such communication related to it concern a matter of public interest.

2. The Second Appellate District's Opinion Conflicts With Well-Settled Case Law

The lower court correctly found that "an action for breach of an exclusive commercial development contract with a public entity (containing causes of action for inducing breach of contract, intentional and negligent interference and Business and Professions Code § 17200) is subject to Anti-SLAPP on the basis of rights of petition and free speech in connection with a public issue." In support of its finding, the lower court relied on *Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port District, supra,* 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1232-35. (AA:IV:21:1095).

Tuchscher involved,

an exclusive negotiating agreement (the negotiating agreement) [between TDE and] the City of Chula Vista and Chula Vista Redevelopment Agency (collectively the City) under which the City and TDE would take preliminary steps and negotiate towards a development agreement for the creation of a mixed use real estate project (the project or Crystal Bay) on certain bayfront property within the City. The negotiating agreement contained an exclusivity clause providing that during the agreement's term, the City "agree[d] not to negotiate with any other person or entity regarding the acquisition and development of the Project.

Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port District, supra, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1227. After the "negotiating agreement deadline passed without TDE and the City reaching terms of a development agreement for Crystal Bay" TDE sued the City and a rival developer, alleging the City and the rival developer conspired to "deprive TDE of the benefits of the negotiating agreement" by "(1) communicating with the mayor and other agents and employees of the City of Chula Vista, and (2) facilitating communications and meetings between [the rival developer and a major landowner] and that Rand Resources' objective was to secure the rights to develop . . . the Crystal Bay project." (Id. at 1228.)

Similarly, Rand Resources alleges it obtained an Exclusive Agency Agreement "which made Rand Resources the City's exclusive agent for the purpose of bringing, among other things, an NFL franchise to the City. Under the EAA, no one other than Rand Resources (or its agents and assignees, such as El Camino) was permitted to represent the City in negotiations with the NFL." (AA:I:2:24). After the expiration of the EAA, Plaintiffs alleged the "City officials, including Mayor James Dear" had been "secretly meeting with Leonard Bloom, the managing director and Chief Executive Officer of U.S. Capital, LLC, regarding bringing the NFL to Carson." (AA:I:2:24). Rand alleges "Mr. Bloom and Mayor Dear met with NFL executives in Beverly Hills, held meetings at City offices and elsewhere to raise money to bring an NFL team to the City, [and] spoke with representatives of NFL teams . . . about relocating to Carson." (AA:I:2:24-25).

The Second Appellate District completely ignored the nearly identical factual patterns in Tuchscher and the pending petition regarding exclusive agreements to negotiate the development of major projects. Instead, in attempting to distinguish Tuchscher and Ludwig, the Second Appellate District found that, in contrast to the instant action, "both involved communications pertaining to an actual planned development, not the identity of the agent representing a party in negotiating matters that might lead to a development." (Slip Op., p. 14.)

"In addition, in *Tuchscher*, the plaintiff conceded that the development in controversy was an issue of public interest. . . . Here, there is no such concession and the subject of the FAC is not communications pertaining to the actual development of real estate, but who represented the City in luring an NFL team to move to the City—a condition precedent to development." (Slip Op., p. 14-15.)

First, Tuchscher does not simply rely on a "concession" of the parties regarding the public interest in an exclusive negotiating agreement regarding the development of bayfront properties. On the contrary, the Tuchscher opinion focuses on the environmental effects of and the public's interest in the proposed development:

The declaration of TDE's president and chief executive officer contains statements demonstrating the Crystal Bay development was a matter of public concern, having broad effects on the community. He averred Chula Vista's mayor and Chula Vista staff encouraged TDE to pursue the development of a large-scale multi-use, resort-oriented, master-planned project on the mid-bayfront in Chula Vista; that the Chula Vista City Council approved the exclusive negotiating agreement with TDE after being publicly noticed and agendized on four separate occasions; and that, in planning the project, TDE conducted numerous public

forums with government agencies, local community groups, and individuals, as well as organized meetings with various environmental and habitat organizations, including the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and the California Department of Fish and Game. The prospect of commercial and residential development of a substantial parcel of bayfront property, with its potential environmental matter of public plainly interest. impacts, is a (E.g., Ludwig, supra, 37 Cal.App.4th at p. 15 [development of a discount mall "with potential environmental effects such as increased traffic and impact[s] on natural drainage, was clearly a matter of public interest"].)

(Tuchscher Dev. Enters., Inc. v. S.D. Unified Port District, supra, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1233-34.) Similarly, here the FAC and the Declaration In Support of the City's Anti-SLAPP motion both emphasize the community interest in and the potential environmental effects of an NFL stadium in the City. (AA:I:2:23-44; AA:I:5:78-81).

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