CBPCVR COLOR

JUL 29 2016

Profes in Consults inspe

Case No. S235735

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

RAND RESOURCES, LLC et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

LEONARD BLOOM, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

On Appeal From the California Court of Appeal for the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division One LASC CASE NO. BC564093 APPELLATE CASE NO. B264493

> JOSEPH YBARRA (State Bar No. 218130) AARON M. MAY (State Bar No. 207751) HUANG YBARRA SINGER & MAY LLP 550 South Hope Street, Suite 1850 Los Angeles, CA 90071-1560 Telephone: (213) 884-4900 Facsimile: (213) 884-4910

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

In short, Petitioners fail to identify any split in decisional authority or even address the actual reasoning of the Court below, instead creating a straw-man Opinion that the Court of Appeal did not issue. The Petitions should be denied.

II. BACKGROUND AND OPINION BELOW¹

Richard Rand is a real estate developer and the sole or controlling owner of plaintiffs Rand Resources, LLC and Carson El Camino, LLC (collectively, "Rand").

¹ Unless otherwise stated, all facts are taken from the Background section of the Opinion below, which relies on the factual allegations in the First Amended Complaint ("FAC") and accepts them as true in light of the procedural posture.

Following a complex series of events, the City appointed Rand "as its sole and exclusive agent" for the purposes of "coordinating and negotiating with the NFL for the designation and development of an NFL football stadium ... in the City."

Although the agreement was to expire in September 2014, Rand was promised that, so long as Rand showed reasonable progress with respect to bringing an NFL franchise to Carson, the [agreement] would be renewed."

Rand worked diligently on bringing an NFL franchise to Carson and spent hundreds of thousands of dollars and a significant amount of time in doing so. Unbeknownst to Rand, however, the City undercut him and violated the agreement by allowing defendants Leonard Bloom and U.S. Capital LLC (collectively, "Bloom") to act as the City's de facto agent in the same negotiations that Rand was supposed to be conducting. The City forwarded confidential documents to Bloom and otherwise violated its duties to Rand. Bloom, for its part, encouraged this breach—ghostwriting letters on behalf of the City's mayor, using promotional materials derivative of those Rand had developed, and creating a new entity called Rand Resources, LLC, presumably to impersonate Rand. When Rand asked the City's mayor about Bloom, the mayor lied to Rand, telling him that he did not know Bloom and that Rand's position as exclusive agent was secure. When the agency contract was up for renewal in late 2014, the City did not renew it notwithstanding Rand's progress.

The FAC states causes of action for (1) breach of contract, (2) tortious breach of contract, (3) promissory fraud, (4) fraud, (5) intentional interference with contract, and (6) intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. Defendants brought anti-SLAPP motions to strike causes of action two through six under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, which the trial court granted in their entirety. As relevant here, Defendants claimed that the FAC sought to hold them liable for communications involving the development of the subject property, and claimed that such communications were matters of public importance triggering the anti-SLAPP statute.

The Court of Appeal unanimously reversed. It held, first, that the five causes of action at issue are based on conduct and *not* on protected speech; thus the anti-SLAPP statute did not apply. (Op. at 13 [Second Cause of Action "is not premised upon protected free speech or the right to petition for redress of grievances, but upon the City's conduct in carrying out (or not) its contract with Rand Resources."]; *id.* at 16 ["[T]he gravamen of the [third] cause of action is the manner in which the City conducted itself in relation to the business transaction between it and Rand Resources, not the City's exercise of free speech or petitioning activity."]; *id.* at 16 ["The gravamen of the fourth cause of action with respect to the City is ... the City's violation of the terms of the EAA by allowing someone other than Rand Resources to act as its agent ... not the City's exercise of free speech or petitioning activity."];

A STANCE OF THE STANCE OF THE

id. at 17 ["The alleged wrongful conduct at the heart of [the fifth and sixth causes of action] is again the Bloom defendants' efforts to usurp Rand Resources's rights and role under the EAA."].) The Opinion relied on a line of California cases holding that the court must "distinguish between (1) speech or petitioning activity that is mere evidence related to liability and (2) liability that is based on speech or petitioning activity." (Id. at 10 [quoting Graffiti Protective Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1207, 1214–1215].)

Next, the Opinion held that even if Rand's claims were based on petitioning speech (and they were not), the speech was not of public importance because it concerned the identity of the agent that would represent the City in negotiations. (*Id.* at 13.) In so holding, the Opinion recognized that the question is not whether an overall project or development is of public importance, but rather whether the specific matter giving rise to liability is of public importance. It was required to draw this distinction by *Commonwealth*, *supra*, which explained the distinction as follows: "Just because you are selling something that is intrinsically important does not mean that the public is interested in the fact that you are selling it." (*Id.* at 14 [quoting *Commonwealth*, *supra*, 110 Cal.App.4th at 34].) Following *Commonwealth*, the Opinion held as follows:

While having an NFL team, stadium, and associated developments in Carson is no doubt a matter of substantial public interest, plaintiffs' complaint does not

concern speech or conduct regarding a large scale real estate development or bringing an NFL team to Carson and building it a stadium. It instead concerns the identity of the person(s) reaching out to the NFL and its teams' owners to curry interest in relocating to Carson. The identity of the City's representative is not a matter of public interest. In this regard, it is noteworthy that the City was not paying Rand Resources for its services or even reimbursing Rand Resources for its expenses. Furthermore, the particular communications alleged in the cause of action, i.e., the false representation that the EAA would be renewed, Dear's false denial about knowing Bloom, and communications entailed in meetings between the defendants, are also not matters of public interest.

(*Id.* at 14.)

The Opinion considered and distinguished *Tuchscher*, the case relied upon by Petitioners, on the grounds that (i) unlike this case, *Tuchscher* involved communications about the specifics of an actual planned development; and (ii) the parties there actually conceded that the development in interest was an issue of public interest. (*Id.* at 14-15.) Because Petitioners had not satisfied the first prong of an anti-SLAPP analysis, the Opinion did not address the second step, Plaintiff's probability of success on their claims. (*Id.* at 18.)

III. STATEMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 8.504(c)

In the event this Court grants the petitions, Plaintiffs seek review of all issues raised in Plaintiffs' appellate briefs, including but not limited to the issues of

whether Plaintiffs have a probability of success on their claims and whether the trial court should have permitted discovery on that issue.

IV. THE PETITIONS SHOULD BE DENIED.

A. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held That Communications

Regarding the Identity of the City's Agent Are Not of Public

Importance.

To trigger the anti-SLAPP statute outside the context of an official proceeding, the protected activity must concern a "public issue." (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16, subd. (b)(1)). In making this determination, the trial court must focus on the importance of a particular communication to the public; it is not enough that the communication be related to selling something of public importance or that the generalities that could be extracted from a communication would hold significance. So, for example, union fliers falsely accusing a janitorial supervisor employed at a UC Berkeley residence of theft, bribes, and abusive treatment of inferiors do not concern a public issue, even though labor relations generally and the use of public funds are matters of important public policy debate. (Rivero v. American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO (2003) 105 Cal. App. 4th 913, 925) Likewise, while the efficacy of herbal supplements in general may be important, specific advertising claims regarding a particular product are not. (Consumer Justice Center v. Trimedica International, Inc. (2003) 107

Cal.App.4th 595, 601.) As the Court of Appeal explained in *Commonwealth*, "[j]ust because you are selling something that is intrinsically important does not mean that the public is interested in the fact that you are selling it." (110 Cal.App.4th at p. 34.)

The Opinion below is squarely in line with these authorities. As it recognized, bringing the NFL to Carson is an issue of great public significance. But, as between two rival individuals vying to act as the City of Carson's agent in dealing with the NFL, the public at large has no particular interest. (Op. at 15) Such matters do not "go beyond the parochial particulars of the given parties," and as such do not implicate the anti-SLAPP statute. (*Id.* at 14 [quoting Commonwealth, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th at 34].)

Petitioners appear to concede this point, nowhere claiming that the identity of the City's agent is a matter of public import. Instead, they spill much ink on the undisputed point that bringing the NFL to Carson was important, and then quickly pivot to the fallacious argument that any communication "bringing up the NFL" must – logical consistency and factual accuracy notwithstanding –be of equal significance. (City Petition at 11.) Petitioners' fantastic argument – which would sweep in not just the communications here but also millions of barbeque and barbershop conversations around the country – has already been rejected by multiple California Courts of Appeal, and there is no reason for this Court to give it any further credence by granting the Petitions. (*I.e.*, *Commonwealth*, *supra*, 110

Cal.App.4th at p. 34 [When analyzing the public interest requirement, "[t]he part is not synonymous with the greater whole."].)

Attempting to create the appearance of a decisional split, the Petitions cite to Tuchscher for the proposition that any communication relating to an exclusive development agreement is a matter of public interest. (City Petition at 11-16.) Tuchscher did not so hold, and it would have been wrong if it had. As the Opinion below recognized, Tuchscher involved an actual planned development of a mixeduse project in Chula Vista, California. (106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1227) Plaintiff Tuchscher Development Enterprises ("TDE") had a 1.5-year exclusive right to negotiate a development agreement for the project before the project opened up to other developers. (Ibid.) During that exclusive period, the defendants allegedly had a number of conversations and communications regarding whether TDE was capable of completing the project, and how the project might look (including which specific roadways would be constructed, which parcels demolished, and which parcels developed) if given to another developer. (Id. at p. 1229-30.) TDE sued, alleging that those particular communications interfered with its exclusive negotiating right. (Id. at p. 1227-28.) Perhaps not surprisingly given the facts, neither any party nor the Court of Appeal drew any distinction between the overall importance of the project and the importance of the particular issues under discussion: there was no distinction to be drawn in *Tuchscher*.

In subsequent cases where, as here, a distinction exists between the importance of a development and the importance of a particular communication, courts have distinguished *Tuchscher* and focused on the particular facts of the case. (*E.g. Wang v. Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 790, 803 [distinguishing *Tuchscher* and holding that applying for environmental permits associated with a development was not a matter of public importance triggering the anti-SLAPP statute].). That is exactly what the Opinion below did, consonant with both *Tuchsher* and subsequent cases limiting it to its particular facts. (*Graffiti Protective Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1207, 1224 [explaining that the Court of Appeal has "essentially limited *Tuchscher* to its facts – the development of scenic Bayfront property."].)

B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held Plaintiffs' Claims Are Based on Conduct, Not Speech.

Petitioner's second attempt to manufacture a decisional conflict—which contends that, because the renewal of the agency agreement would ultimately be the subject of legislative action, any lawsuit that relates to or uses as evidence communications about the agency agreement must be barred by the anti-SLAPP statute (City Petition at 17-19)—is equally tortured.

To implicate the anti-SLAPP statute, the "acts on which liability is based" must consist of protected speech. (*Renewable Resources Coalition, Inc. v. Pebble Mines Corp.* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 384, 387.) In making that determination, the trial court must "distinguish between (1) speech or petitioning activity that is mere evidence related to liability and (2) liability that is based on speech or petitioning activity." (*Graffiti Protective Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1207, 1214–1215.) In *Tuchscher*, as described above, the plaintiff alleged that "communicating with the mayor and other agents and employees of the city" and "facilitating communications and meetings between defendants" were the basis of liability. (*Tuchscher, supra*, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1228) Hence the gravamen of the complaint was communication, and the anti-SLAPP statute applied; this does not appear to have been even disputed.

Here, by contrast, Plaintiffs' interference claims turn on the *actions* of private citizens (the Bloom Defendants), who served as a competing, *de facto* agent for the City at a time when Plaintiffs were contractually entitled to be the City's exclusive agent for dealing with the NFL, and the Defendants' fraud in covering up that interference. Although communications may be relevant to prove liability, that is not enough to trigger the anti-SLAPP statute. (*See Wang, supra*, 153 Cal.App.4th at 808 [reversing a trial court order striking claims for breach of contract and fraud arising out of a real estate development because the alleged wrongdoing arose from

Defendants' conduct in "carrying out...contractual duties, seeking to extend escrow, requesting the execution of documents, and other practices within the scope of the parties' contractual relationship."]; *Graffiti Protective Coatings*, 181 Cal.App.4th at 1224 ["Although the City's communications may be of evidentiary value in establishing that it violated the law, liability is not based on the communications themselves."].).

The Opinion below understood and engaged with this distinction, recognizing that Plaintiffs' claims are based on conduct and therefore do not trigger the anti-SLAPP statute. Moreover, the mere fact that the City would later decide whether or not to renew the Exclusive Agency Agreement is entirely immaterial to Petitioners' breach of (and interference with) that agreement while it was in place. Nothing in *Tuchscher* states otherwise, and no intervention by this Court is needed to harmonize or reconcile the cases.

C. The Bloom Defendants' Petition Should Be Denied

The Bloom Defendants seek review of two issues. The first is substantively identical to the City Petition's first issue, and should be denied for the same reason. Second, the Bloom Defendants contend that Rand's claim is doomed to fail because Rand Resources, LLC was a suspended corporation and therefore purportedly lacks standing to pursue the claims at issue here. But even if that argument had a shred of merit (it does not), it would come into play at the second stage of an anti-SLAPP

analysis, which analyzes Plaintiffs' probability of success. The Court of Appeal reversed at the first stage and stopped there. (Op. at 18.) Thus, there is nothing in the Opinion about Rand's corporate status for this Court to correct, harmonize, or otherwise address.²

v. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeal's decision below is firmly in line with California jurisprudence and presents no conflict with *Tuchscher* or other decisions. The Petitions should be denied.

DATED: July 25, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

HUANG YBARRA SINGER & MAY LLP JOSEPH J. YBARRA AARON M. MAY

By:

JOSEPHI JI. YBARRA

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Appellants RAND RESOURCES, LLC AND CARSON EL CAMINO, LLC

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